
 

 

 

City of Graham 

City Council Meeting Agenda  

January 13, 2026 
 

6:00 p.m. | City Hall | 201 South Main Street | Graham, NC 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Chelsea Dickey 

 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

 

RECOGNITION:  Mr. Andrew Heath and Mr. Omar Utley  
 

 

PRESENTATION:  Mr. Brad Fowler, Alamance County Tax Administrator – 2027 Property Revaluation 
 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

 

A. To approve the December 9, 2025, City Council minutes, December 15, 2025, Special meeting minutes, 

and the December 22, 2025, Special Closed Session meeting minutes. 

 

B. To approve a budget amendment for $1,500 for the purchase of a memorial bench to be placed at the 

Graham Regional Park.  

 

C. To approve a contract extension for $7,771,440 for the water replacement project, Phase I, and to 

include a portion of Phase II to maximize cost savings while contractors are mobilized. (The funding 

for this project has already been received.) 

 

D. To approve an amendment to the audit contract with Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King to allow for a 

time extension to February 28, 2026. 

 

E. To approve tax refunds in the amount of $278.92 and tax releases in the amount of $370.19.           
 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

1. OPERATING HOURS – GRAHAM REGIONAL PARK – BILL COOKE PARK – SOUTH 

GRAHAM PARK  
 

City Council will consider setting the following operating hours for Graham Regional Park, Bill Cooke 

Park, and South Graham Park to allow for early morning/late evening walking and summer 

tennis/pickleball and basketball using the lighted courts. 

 

6:00 am – 9:00 pm – March – October 

6:00 am – 7:00 pm – November – February  

 

 

 

Page 1 of 85



 

 

 

 

 

2. SESQUICENTENNIAL PARK DISCUSSION 

 

City Council will discuss options for the Sesquicentennial Park Project.  
 

  

3. BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS APPOINTMENTS 

 

City Council will consider making appointments to the Planning Board/Board of Adjustment and 

Historic Resources Commission. 

 

Applicants for Planning/Board of Adjustment 

Daniel Alvis 

Corbin Craig (1st choice) 

Ricky Hurtado (1st choice) 

Elizabeth Kirkpatrick 

Jenson Roll 

Richard Shevlin 

 

Applicants for Historic Resources Commission 

Emma Stapleton 

Corbin Craig (2nd choice) 

Ricky Hurtado (2nd choice) 

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
  

 

 

CITY STAFF COMMENTS 
 

 

 

CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

 

 

ADJOURN 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 85



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: RECOGNIZING TWO CITIZENS FOR THEIR HEROIC EFFORTS IN EVACUATING 
A RESIDENT FROM HER BURNING HOME ON NOVEMBER 29, 2025. 

PREPARED BY: CHIEF TOMMY COLE 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Fire Chief Cole is requesting recognition for Andrew Heath and Omar Utley for their heroic efforts to help a Graham resident 
escape her burning home on Saturday, November 29, 2025.  

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

On Saturday, November 29, 2026, at 6:25 am, the Graham Fire Department responded to a residential structure fire at 719 
Williamsdale Road. Initial reports indicated flames visible from the roof of the residence and a vehicle parked in the driveway. 

Engine 10 and Truck 10 arrived on scene to find a working residential structure fire with fire and smoke showing. Graham Fire 
Department personnel immediately initiated fire suppression operations and conducted a primary search of the residence, 
which confirmed no occupants remained inside. 

During the investigation, it was determined that two citizens, Andrew Heath and Omar Utley, were responsible for alerting 
the home's sole occupant, Ms. Savage, before the arrival of fire crews. While leaving for work, Mr. Heath and Mr. Utley 
observed the fire, stopped at the residence, and repeatedly knocked on the door to awaken Ms. Savage. Once she was alerted 
to the danger, they assisted her in exiting the home. 

The actions of Andrew Heath and Omar Utley directly resulted in a life being saved on November 29, 2026. Had they not 
taken immediate action to alert the occupant, Ms. Savage would likely have succumbed to smoke inhalation before 
emergency responders arrived on scene.  Their actions exemplify the importance of community awareness and the critical 
role citizens can play in emergencies. 

The Graham Fire Department commends Mr. Heath and Mr. Utley for their quick thinking, selfless actions, and commitment 
to the safety of others.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Assist in formally recognizing Andrew Heath and Omat Utley, who were instrumental in saving a life on November 29, 2025. 

Page 3 of 85



 STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: 2027 COUNTYWIDE PROPERTY EVALUATION 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Receive a presentation from the County Tax Administrator, Brad Fowler, providing updates and 
answer general questions from City Council.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The 2027 revaluation is currently underway, and over the coming months the County will 
continue data review, market analysis, and valuation modeling to ensure fair and equitable 
assessments countywide. As this process moved forward, we recognize the importance of clear, 
consistent communication with residents regarding the revaluation process, timeline, and what 
they can expect. 

The County Tax Administrator has offered to attend council meetings, town halls, or other 
community forums throughout the year to provide updates and answer general questions for 
residents.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No known financial impact at this time.     

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Receive presentation.     

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

Receive a presentation from the County Tax Administrator, Brad Fowler, providing updates and 
answer general questions from City Council.   

Page 4 of 85



1 

 

City of Graham 

City Council Meeting Minutes  

December 9, 2025 
 

 
 

The City Council of the City of Graham held a regularly scheduled meeting on December 9, 2025, at 

6:00 p.m. in the Council Chamber, City Hall Municipal Building, 201 South Main Street, Graham, NC. 
 

Council Members Present: Staff Present: 

Mayor Jennifer Talley Megan Garner, City Manager 

Mayor Pro Tem Ricky Hall Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager 

Council Member Bobby Chin Bob Ward, City Attorney 

Council Member Bonnie Whitaker Bryan Coleman, City Attorney  

Incoming Mayor Chelsea Dickey Renee Ward, City Clerk 

Incoming Council Member Jim Young 

  

CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jennifer Talley called the meeting to order and presided. 
 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

Pastor Brian Biggers, Grace Chapel, gave the invocation, and all stood for the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

 

ITEM 1: APPROVAL OF CITY COUNCIL MINUTES: 
 

City Council considered approving the November 4, 2025, City Council meeting minutes and the Closed 

Session meeting minutes, as well as the November 7, 2025, and November 24, 2025, Special meeting 

minutes.  
 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hall to approve the minutes, seconded by Council Member Chin. The motion 

passed unanimously.  
 

 

ITEM 2: APPROVAL OF THE GRAHAM REGIONAL PARK MASTER PLAN: 
 

City Council considered approval of the Graham Regional Park Master Plan. 
 

Mr. Michael Alderman and Ms. Kristen Herndon from Withers Ravenel presented the final master plan 

for the Graham Regional Park. They discussed the four-step process, community feedback, and the chosen 

"balanced" concept, which includes athletic fields, a splash pad, an amphitheater, and various trails. They 

also touched upon considerations for future phasing and funding.  

 

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to approve the Graham Regional Park Master Plan, seconded by 

Mayor Pro Tem Hall. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

 

Page 5 of 85



2 

 

 

PRESENTATION TO MAYOR JENNIFER TALLEY 
 

A plaque was presented to Mayor Jennifer Tally in honor of her outstanding leadership, dedication, and 

service serving as Graham’s Mayor from December 2021 to December 2025. Mayor Tally expressed her 

gratitude and highlighted key achievements during her term. 

 

CERTIFICATION OF ELECTION: City Clerk Renee Ward 
 

City Clerk Renee Ward confirmed the certification of the election held on November 4, 2025, as certified 

by the Alamance County Board of Elections. 

Votes for Mayor: 

Chelsea Dickey 1,363  

Jennifer Talley 1,025 
 

It was confirmed that Chelsea Dickey is the duly elected Mayor for a two-year term expiring December 

2027.   
 

Votes for Council Members: 

Bobby Chin  1,161 

Jim Young  1,105 

Randy Phillips 1,091 

Daniel Alvis     924 
 

It was confirmed that Bobby Chin and Jim Young are the duly elected Council Members for a four-year 

term expiring December 2029. 
 

 

ORGANIZATION OF CITY COUNCIL: Oath of Office to Newly Elected Officials  
 

Mr. Hunt Johnson administered the oath of office to Chelsea Dickey as Graham’s incoming elected 

Mayor. 

 

The Honorable Craig Turner, District Court Judge, administered the oath of office to Council Member 

Bobby Chin as Graham’s re-elected Council Member. 

 

Mr. Stephen M. Ross, North Carolina House of Representatives, administered the oath of office to Jim 

Young as Graham’s incoming elected Council Member. 

  

*  *  *  *  *  *  * 
 

CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Chelsea Dickey continued the meeting and presided.  
 

 

NEW COUNCIL CONVENES: Election of Mayor Pro Tem and Oath of Office 
 

Motion by Council Member Chin to nominate Ricky Hall as Mayor Pro Tem, seconded by Council 

Member Whitaker. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

 

Page 6 of 85



3 

 

PRESENTATION: President, Tracey Grayzer, Impact Alamance  
 

Tracy Grayzer, President of Impact Alamance, thanked the City Council for its partnership over the past 

10 years. She highlighted Impact Alamance's approximately $492,000 investment in 11 grants for the 

City of Graham, including contributions to Graham’s Regional Park. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

 

A. To approve an interlocal agreement with the City of Burlington to operate the Burlington Animal 

Services Pet Adoption and Resource Center. 

 

B. To approve a resolution awarding a police badge and service sidearm to Retired Police Sergeant 

Neil Gardner Rains.   
 

C. To approve a budget amendment for $26,000 in Federal Drug Funds for use by the Police 

Department.  

 
 

D. To approve a budget amendment for $25,000 for vehicle maintenance of the Fire Departments’ 

front-line apparatus. 

 

 

Section 1.  

EXPENDITURES          INCREASE

DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

Contracted Services -                                           26,000.00                     26,000.00             26,000.00               

-                         -                            

-                                           26,000.00                     26,000.00             -                             26,000.00               

Section 2.          INCREASE

REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

Federal Drug Funds $0.00 $26,000.00 $26,000.00 $26,000.00

-                                           26,000.00                     26,000.00             -                             26,000.00               

Adopted this 9th day of December 2025.

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE

2025-2026

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2025 - 2026  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  

EXPENDITURES          INCREASE

DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

Repair & Maintenance Vehicles 32,000.00                               57,000.00                     25,000.00             25,000.00               

-                         -                            

32,000.00                               57,000.00                     25,000.00             -                             25,000.00               

Section 2.          INCREASE

REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

Fund Balance Appropriation $1,456,337.00 $1,481,337.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00

1,456,337.00                         1,481,337.00               25,000.00             -                             25,000.00               

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE

2025-2026

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2025 - 2026  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 7 of 85



4 

E. To approve the following 2026 City Council meeting dates and 6:00 pm meeting time:

January 13 February 10 March 10 April 14 May 12  June 9 

July 14  August 11 September 8 October 13 November 10 December 8 

F. To approve tax releases in the amount of $393.21.

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hall to approve the consent agenda, seconded by Council Member Chin. The 

motion passed unanimously. 

NEW BUSINESS 

ITEM 1: COUNCIL – BOARD ASSIGNMENTS 

City Council made assignments as board liaisons on the following boards: 

Motion by Mayor Dickey for Council Members to serve as primary liaison or alternate on the following 

boards:  

Appearance Commission/Tree Board – Mayor Dickey 

Graham Historical Museum – Mayor Dickey 

Historic Resources Commission – Mayor Dickey / Alternate Council Member Young 

Recreation Commission – Council Member Chin 

Economic Development & Marketing Committee – Council Member Whitaker / Alternate Mayor 

Dickey 

Alamance County Community Services Agency – Council Member Young 

Audit Committee – Mayor Dickey 

Alamance County Economic Development Committee: Mayor Pro Tem Hall / Alternate Mayor 

Dickey 

Piedmont Triad Regional Council – Council Member Chin /Alternate Mayor Pro Tem Hall 

Transportation Advisory Committee – Mayor Pro Tem Hall /Alternate Council Member Whitaker 

The motion died for a lack of a second. 

After further discussion about who would serve on the Alamance County Economic Development 

Committee and the Economic Development & Marketing Committee, the Council made individual 

motions to appoint liaisons for each board. 

Motion by Council Member Chin for Mayor Pro Tem Hall to serve as the primary liaison on the 

Alamance County Economic Development Committee and the alternate Council Member Whitaker, 

seconded by Council Member Young.  The motion passed 4-1. Mayor Dickey voted no. 

Motion by Council Member Chin for Mayor Dickey to serve as the primary liaison for the Appearance 

Commission/Tree Board, seconded by Mayor Dickey. The motion passed unanimously. 

Motion by Council Member Chin for Mayor Pro Tem Hall to serve as the primary liaison on the 

Economic Development Committee and the alternate Council Member Whitaker, seconded by Council 

Member Young.  The motion passed 4-1. Mayor Dickey voted no. 

Page 8 of 85



5 

Motion by Mayor Dickey for Council Member Whitaker to serve as primary liaison on the Graham 

Historical Museum, seconded by Council Member Chin. The motion passed unanimously. 

Motion by Mayor Dickey for Council Member Young to serve as primary liaison on the Historic 

Resources Commission, and Mayor Dickey as the alternate, seconded by Council Member Chin. The 

motion passed unanimously.  

Motion by Mayor Dickey for Council Member Chin to serve as primary liaison on the Recreation 

Commission, seconded by Council Member Chin. The motion passed unanimously.  

Motion by Mayor Dickey for Council Member Whitaker to serve as primary liaison on the Economic 

Development & Marketing Committee, and Mayor Dickey as an alternate, seconded by Council 

Member Young. The motion passed unanimously.   

Motion by Mayor Dickey for Council Member Jim Young to serve as primary liaison on the Alamance 

County Community Services Agency, seconded by Council Member Chin. The motion passed 

unanimously.   

Motion by Mayor Dickey, for herself to serve as primary liaison on the Audit Committee, seconded by 

Council Member Whitaker. The motion passed unanimously. 

Motion by Mayor Dickey for Council Member Chin to serve as the primary liaison for the Piedmont 

Triad Regional Council and Mayor Pro Tem Hall as the alternate. The motion passed unanimously. 

Motion by Council Member Chin for Mayor Pro Tem Hall to serve as the primary liaison for the 

Transportation Advisory Committee and Mayor Dickey as the alternate. The motion passed 

unanimously. 

PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 

Ms. Renee Russell, 218 Ward Street, Graham, inquired about the City’s Economic Development & 

Marketing Committee. She expressed interest in serving on this committee and asked where she could 

get more information. Mayor Dickey stated this would be explained under Council comments. 

CITY STAFF COMMENTS 

There were no staff comments. 

CITY COUNCIL COMMENTS 

Council Member Young read the following statement and asked that it be recorded in the minutes. He 

also stated that after the statement was read, he was done with this matter. 

Page 9 of 85



6 

 

 
 

Council Member Chin stated that regarding the Economic Development & Marketing Committee, 

Council had been trying to establish it, but had difficulty finding folks to serve. He added that the Council 

wanted to include businesspeople, developers, and an attorney with an interest in developing Graham's 

economy. The committee was meant to grow our community, so the City did not have to rely solely on 

property taxes to fund operations.  He added the need for policies and direction to encourage businesses 

to come to Graham rather than disincentivize them.   

 

Mayor Dickey asked when the board would be advertised again. 

 

City Manager Garner stated that the boards and commissions are typically advertised at the beginning of 

the year, around March, and all vacancies will be advertised on the website and social media. 

 

Council Member Whitaker thanked everyone for coming out tonight and supporting the Council and the 

Mayor. She also thanked the Recreation Department and Withers Ravenel for their outstanding work on 

the Graham Regional Master Plan. She wished everyone a Merry Christmas and a Happy New Year. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Hall thanked Recreation and Parks Director Brian Faucette and staff for the lighting of 

the tree and fireworks event, which was great. He wished everyone a safe and happy holiday. 

 

Mayor Dickey thanked City staff and all departments for keeping us safe and keeping us moving. She 

thanked GABA for the wonderful Christmas parade and Parks and Recreation for the lighting of the tree.  

 

Page 10 of 85



7 

 

Mayor Dickey asked that the Council bring forward the Sesquicentennial Park for discussion on the 

January agenda. She stated there could be potential funding for the park.  The Council's consensus was 

to add this to the January agenda.  Mayor Dickey also noted that the Council had not formally adopted a 

policy governing the process and procedures for Council meetings. She asked that this be added to the 

January agenda to adopt measures that make Council meetings more efficient and provide clearer 

guidelines to staff. The Council's consensus was to add this to the January agenda.  

 

Mayor Dickey also wished everyone a Merry Christmas and invited everyone back in January.  
  

 

CLOSED SESSION 
 

City Council considered going into closed session to discuss a potential litigation matter in accordance 

with N.C.G.S. Section 143-318.11(a)(3). 

 

Motion by Council Member Whitaker to go into closed session to discuss a potential litigation matter in 

accordance with N.C.G.S. Section 143-318.11(a)(3), seconded by Council Member Chin. The motion 

passed unanimously. 

 

Mr. Tom Boney, Alamance News, asked whether there was any pending litigation that was the subject of 

the closed session. 

 

City Attorney Ward stated it was not. 

 

The closed session was held. 

 

Motion by Council Member Chin to go out of closed session, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall. The 

motion passed unanimously.  

 

 

Motion by Council Member Chin to return to open session, seconded by Council Member Young. The 

motion passed unanimously.  

 

Motion by Council Member Chin to authorize condemnation proceedings for the following properties 

pertaining to the 10-inch water line replacement project, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall. The motion 

passed unanimously. 
 

Tax Map #  

8895214347 8884677914 

8895219154 8884688508 

8894090924 8885804114 

8894091597 8884776890 

8894080228 8884781059 

8894081393 8884788456 

8884897006 8884794200 

8884674800 8884870813 

8884675857 8884880248 

8884885212  

Page 11 of 85



8 

 

  
 

Motion by Mayor Dickey to authorize staff to take appropriate action to resolve the ongoing dispute with 

the City of Mebane regarding wastewater capacity and related requirements and agreements, and employ 

the services of Ward and Coleman and/or associates outside of council as necessary, seconded by Council 

Member Whitaker. The motion passed unanimously.    
 

 

ADJOURN 
 

Motion by Council Member Chin to adjourn, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Hall. The motion passed 

unanimously. (7:53 p.m.) 
 

          Renee M. Ward, CMC 

         City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

December 9, 2025 

City Council Meeting 

Page 12 of 85



1 
 

City of Graham City Council 

Special Meeting Minutes  

December 15, 2025 
 

 

The City Council of Graham held a special meeting for a Department Head Update Session at 8:00 a.m. on 

December 15, 2025, at the Graham Civic Center, 503 McGee Street, Graham, NC.  

 

Councilmembers Present:     Staff Present: 

Mayor Chelsea Dickey      Megan Garner, City Manager 

Mayor Pro Tem Ricky Hall     Aaron Holland, Assistant City Manager 

Council Member Bobby Chin     Renee Ward, City Clerk  

Council Member Bonnie Whitaker 

Council Member Jim Young    

  

       

CALL TO ORDER: 
 

Mayor Dickey called the meeting to order at 8:00 a.m. and presided.   
 

The following City Department Heads gave presentations that explained what they do, why they do it, and 

what they need to continue serving the City of Graham. 

 

WATER/WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT – DIRECTOR TONYA MANN: 
 

 
 

WATER TREATMENT: 
 

 

Page 13 of 85



2 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 14 of 85



3 
 

WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT: 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 15 of 85



4 
 

 
 

FIELD OPERATIONS – DISTRIBUTION AND COLLECTION SYSTEMS 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 16 of 85



5 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

COLLECTIONS 
 

 

Page 17 of 85



6 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

BILLING AND CUSTOMER SERVICE: 
 

 

Page 18 of 85



7 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

MAINTENANCE:  
 

 
 

 

Page 19 of 85



8 
 

 
 

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DEPARTMENT – DIRECTOR JEFF WILSON: 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 20 of 85



9 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 21 of 85



10 
 

 
 

 
 

PLANNING/INSPECTIONS – DIRECTOR JIMMY LLOYD/ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

AARON NOBLE: 

 

 
 

 

Page 22 of 85



11 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 23 of 85



12 
 

 
 

 
 

POLICE DEPARTMENT – CHIEF BRIAN NEIL: 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 24 of 85



13 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 25 of 85



14 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 26 of 85



15 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 27 of 85



16 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

FIRE DEPARTMENT – CHIEF TOMMY COLE: 
 

 
 

Page 28 of 85



17 
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

 

Page 29 of 85



18 
 

 
 

   
 

   
 

Page 30 of 85



19 
 

   
 

 
 

  
 

 

Page 31 of 85



20 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 32 of 85



21 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 33 of 85



22 
 

 
 

PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT – DIRECTOR BURKE ROBERTSON: 

 

     
 

 
 

 

Page 34 of 85



23 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 35 of 85



24 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 36 of 85



25 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 37 of 85



26 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 38 of 85



27 
 

   
 

   
 

  
 

 
 

 

Page 39 of 85



28 
 

  
 

   
 

 
 

RECREATION AND PARKS DEPARTMENT – DIRECTOR BRIAN FAUCETTE: 

 

 
 

 

Page 40 of 85



29 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 41 of 85



30 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 42 of 85



31 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 43 of 85



32 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 44 of 85



33 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 45 of 85



34 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 46 of 85



35 
 

 
 

ADMINISTRATION AND NON-DEPARTMENTAL (GENERAL FUND AND UTILITIES) – CITY 

MANAGER MEGAN GARNER AND ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER AARON HOLLAND: 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 47 of 85



36 
 

   
 

   
 

  

 
 

Page 48 of 85



37 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 49 of 85



38 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 50 of 85



39 
 

Council Member Whitaker shared that NCDOT had approved the crosswalks and the next step would be to 

put the job out for bid to get a firm price. She said this would be taken from the $600,000 received from the 

State. 

 

Mayor Dickey asked how much would be left over.  

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated the crosswalks would cost approximately $500,000, and $13,000 was 

used for pedestrian improvements. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Hall inquired about the cost of rewriting the UDO. 

 

Assistant City Manager Holland stated the cost would be between $150,000 and $200,000 over two years. 

He added that this would need to go through the bid process. 

 

Council Member Chin inquired about expanding the reservoir and felt it should not wait.  

 

City Manager Garner reminded Council that anything they wanted to fund after learning about the various 

departments and what is needed would need to come from additional revenue, and that one penny on the tax 

rate would equate to $270,000. 

 

City Manager Garner thanked Council for attending and learning more about how the City operates.  She 

reminded Council of the Goal Setting Session set for January 20, 2026. 

 

 

ADJOURN 
 

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Hall to adjourn, seconded by Council Member Whitaker. The motion passed 

unanimously. The meeting was adjourned at 3:24 p.m. 

 Renee M. Ward, CMC 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
November 24, 2025 

Special Meeting 

Page 51 of 85



 STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: BUDGET AMENDMENT – MEMORIAL BENCH 

PREPARED BY: BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve a budget amendment in the amount of $1,500 for the purchase of a memorial bench to be placed 
at Graham Regional Park.  

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

Members of the community donated $1,500 for the purchase of a park bench to memorialize their friend, 
Danny Ayers, to be placed near the water feature at Graham Regional Park.  

The bench to be purchased is similar to the current benches in the natural playground section of the park. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The donation of $1,500 will offset the cost of the bench. The remaining cost will be covered by the current 
budget allocation in 10-6200-7000 (Small Equipment Purchases). The Parks Maintenance Division will 
install the bench.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

 
I move we approve the proposed budget amendment in the amount of $1,500 to offset the cost to 
purchase a bench to be placed at Graham Regional Park to memorialize Danny Ayers. 

 Page 52 of 85



Section 1.  
EXPENDITURES          INCREASE
DEPARTMENT/ACCOUNT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)
Small Equipment 1,500.00                                    3,000.00                         1,500.00                 1,500.00                   

-                           -                              
1,500.00                                    3,000.00                         1,500.00                 -                               1,500.00                   

Section 2.          INCREASE
REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  (DECREASE)  (DECREASE)

Recreation Donations $2,000.00 $3,500.00 $1,500.00 $1,500.00
2,000.00                                    3,500.00                         1,500.00                 -                               1,500.00                   

Adopted this 13th day of January 2026.

Attest:

Renee M. Ward, City Clerk

Mayor Chelsea Dickey

CITY OF GRAHAM

BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE
2025-2026

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM THAT
 THE 2025 - 2026  BUDGET ORDINANCE SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY AMENDED AS FOLLOWS: 

Page 53 of 85



 STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR 10-INCH WATER LINE EXTENSION PROJECT 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve the contract extension in the amount of $7,771,440.00 for the water line replacement project. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

Work is currently underway on Phase I of the 10-inch water line replacement project. As part of an effort 
to maximize cost savings and efficiency, it has been recommended by our engineers (AWCK) to include 
portions of work from Phase II via a change order in the amount of the original contract amount 
($7,771,440.00). By not exceeding this amount and approving a contract extension, this will allow the 
contractors that have already mobilized and are on site to continue work on schedule.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The funding for this project has already been received.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

I move we approve the contract extension in the amount of $7,771,440.00 for the water line replacement 
project. 
 

Page 54 of 85



 STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: AUDIT CONTRACT AMENDMENT 

PREPARED BY: MEGAN GARNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

 
Approve an amendment to the audit contract with Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King to allow for a 
time extension to February 28, 2026.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY:  

The City Council approved an audit contract with Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King on July 8, 2025.  
Due to the replacement of staff and the need to ensure accurate bank reconciliations, the City 
has been delayed in completing the annual audit.  Both auditing firms, Stout, Stuart, McGowen 
& King and Cobb, Ezekiel & Loy, have been kept informed of the status and provided with all 
available documentation so they can begin their audit work.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No additional financial impact is included in this amendment; only a time extension.     

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 Approval.   

SUGGESTED MOTION(S) 

I move to approve an amendment to the audit contract with Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King to 
allow for a time extension to February 28, 2026.  

Page 55 of 85



Whereas Primary Government Unit 

and Discretely Presented Component Unit (DPCU)  (if applicable) 

and Auditor 

entered into a contract in which the Auditor agreed to audit the accounts of the Primary Government Unit 
and DPCU (if applicable)  

for 
Fiscal Year Ending 

and originally to be 
submitted to the LGC on 

Audit Report Due Date

hereby agree that it is now necessary that the contract be modified as follows. 
Modified date 

Modification to fee

Original date 

Modified fee 

Date 

Plan to Prevent Future Late Submissions
If the amendment is submitted to modify the date the audit will be submitted to the LGC, please indicate the steps the unit and 
auditor will take to prevent late filing of audits in subsequent years. Audits are due six months after fiscal year end (ten months 
after fiscal year end for housing authorities). Indicate NA if this is an amendment due to a change in cost only.

Additional Information
Please provide any additional explanation or details regarding the contract modification.

By their signatures on the following pages, the Auditor, the Primary Government Unit, and the DPCU (if 
applicable), agree to these modified terms.  

Page 1 of 3 

Reason(s) for Contract Amendment

Change in scope
Issue with unit staff/turnover/workload
Issue with auditor staff/turnover/workload
Third-party financial statements not prepared by agreed-upon date
Unit did not have bank reconciliations complete for the audit period
Unit did not have reconciliations between subsidiary ledgers and general ledger complete 
Unit did not post previous years adjusting journal entries resulting in incorrect beginning 
balances in the general ledger
Unit did not have information required for audit complete by the agreed-upon time 
Delay in component unit reports
Software - implementation issue
Software - system failure
Software - ransomware/cyberattack
Natural or other disaster
Other (please explain)

 Primary 
 (choose 1)

 Other
(choose 0-2)

Modification to date submitted to LGC

Original fee 

Page 56 of 85



Page 57 of 85



SIGNATURE PAGE – DPCU 
(complete only if applicable) 

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT 

DPCU 

Date DPCU Governing Board Approved Amended Audit 
Contract (If required by governing board policy)

DPCU Chairperson (typed or printed) Signature 

Date Email Address 

Chair of Audit Committee (typed or printed, or “NA”) Signature 

Date Email Address 

DPCU  – PRE-AUDIT CERTIFICATE 
*ONLY REQUIRED IF FEES ARE MODIFIED IN THE AMENDED CONTRACT*

(Pre-audit certificate not required for hospitals) 

Required by G.S. 159-28(a1) or G.S. 115C-441(a1) 

This instrument has been pre-audited in the manner required by The Local Government 
Budget and Fiscal Control Act or by the School Budget and Fiscal Control Act. 

DPCU Finance Officer (typed or printed) Signature 

Date of Pre-Audit Certificate Email Address 

Page 58 of 85



Page 59 of 85



Page 60 of 85



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: PARK HOURS 

PREPARED BY: BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS 

 
REQUESTED ACTION:   

Set consistent operating hours for Graham Regional Park, Bill Cooke Park, and South Graham Park. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

GRPD staff arriving to work early in the mornings or working athletic events at night often experience citizens using 
the parks outside of the existing operating hours of sunrise to sunset. The most common activities include early 
morning/late evening walking during the summer and tennis/pickleball and basketball using the lighted courts.  

A major focus of the GRPD is to provide facilities that allow citizens to enjoy the benefits of nature and to be 
physically active. To better meet this goal, GRPD staff proposes to post the following park hours to formally allow 
citizens access to our facilities: 

6:00am – 9:00pm – March – October 
6:00am – 7:00pm – November – February    

The present city ordinance states: 

Sec. 14-82. - Hours of operation. 
Parks shall be open to the public as posted or scheduled on each day of the week. It shall be unlawful for any 
person to enter a park at any other time except when the facility is being operated under the supervision of the 
city recreation and parks department and/or a designated agent. 

Based on the current ordinance, the only action needed to change park hours is posting updated signage.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Immediate fiscal impact will be a minimal cost to update vinyl lettering on rule signs at Cooke Park and South 
Graham Park and updating lettering on a sign made by the Graham Street Dept. at Graham Regional Park.  

Future budget considerations will be related to replacing/updating lighting at the Cooke Park tennis/pickleball 
courts and the S. Graham Park basketball and tennis/pickleball courts.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends setting park hours for Graham Regional Park, Bill Cooke Park, and South Graham Park to: 

6:00am – 9:00pm – March – October 
6:00am – 7:00pm – November - February 

Page 61 of 85



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: SESQUICENTENNIAL PARK DISCUSSION 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Discussion options for the Sesquicentennial Park project. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

City staff presented bids at the May 2025 City Council meeting 
from 2 contractors (Pinam Construction and H.F. Mitchell 
Construction) that submitted varying costs based on 
parameters set by the City’s Public Works Director, Burke 
Robertson.  

A Public Hearing was scheduled for the September 2025 City Council meeting and the public provided 
comment at that meeting. Upon consideration from the public and review of costs associated with the 
site, staff was directed by Council to preserve elements of the park (i.e., bricks, benches, pergola, etc.) 
and stabilize the grounds until further notice. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The total costs for remediation are dependent on the option selected. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

N/A 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S):  

Page 62 of 85



Page 63 of 85



Page 64 of 85



Page 65 of 85



Page 66 of 85



Page 67 of 85



Page 68 of 85



Page 69 of 85



2015-16 Started 
monitoring park due to 

sinking. Applied for 
stormwater grants ahead 
of NCDOT resurfacing to 

address water 
quality/retention. 

Conversations spawned 
small area plan.

2019 Received $10k to 
dig out/repair clock bed. 
Work was cancelled on 
account of Small Area 

Plan.

2020 Structural Engineer 
was hired  to evaluate 

for safety.

2022 Sinking had spread 
to walkways. $30k was 

requested but not 
budgeted.

2023 $50k was 
requested to dig out 
clock bed and foam 

stabilize rest of park This 
spawned ECS testing and 

bidding to repair.

Page 70 of 85



Page 71 of 85



Page 72 of 85



Page 73 of 85



Page 74 of 85



Page 75 of 85



Page 76 of 85



Page 77 of 85



Page 78 of 85



Page 79 of 85



Page 80 of 85



Page 81 of 85



Page 82 of 85



Page 83 of 85



Page 84 of 85



Page 85 of 85


	1-13-26 Agenda
	Staff Report - Recognition of Andrew Heath and Omar Utley for saving a life from a house fire on Nov 29 2025
	RECOGNIZING TWO CITIZENS FOR THEIR HEROIC EFFORTS IN EVACUATING A RESIDENT FROM HER BURNING HOME ON NOVEMBER 29, 2025.
	SUBJECT:
	CHIEF TOMMY COLE
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:

	Staff Report - tax revaluation update
	2027 COUNTYWIDE PROPERTY EVALUATION
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	12-9-25 - Regular Meeting Minutes
	12-15-25 Special Meeting - Dept Updates
	1 - Staff Report for Council Agenda - Budget Amendment for memorial bench '26
	BUDGET AMENDMENT – MEMORIAL BENCH
	SUBJECT:
	BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	2 - BA - Memorial Bench - Rec
	PRESENTATION

	1_Staff Report - Contract Extension for 10 inch replacement
	CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR 10-INCH WATER LINE EXTENSION PROJECT
	SUBJECT:
	AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	1 - Staff Report - audit contract amendment 1.2026
	AUDIT CONTRACT AMENDMENT
	SUBJECT:
	MEGAN GARNER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s)

	City of Graham 2025 Amended Audit Contract
	REFUNDS
	RELEASES
	Staff Report for Manager - Park Operating Hours
	PARK HOURS
	SUBJECT:
	BRIAN FAUCETTE, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:

	1_Staff Report Sesquincentennial Park Options
	SESQUICENTENNIAL PARK DISCUSSION
	SUBJECT:
	AARON HOLLAND, ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER
	PREPARED BY:
	Requested Action:
	Background/Summary:
	Fiscal Impact:
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion(s):

	2_Bid form
	3_Pinam Construction Bid
	4_HF Mitchell Park Bid
	Presentation1
	Slide Number 1

	1-13-26 - Boards and Commission Appointments - Applications

	Primary Government Unit: City of Graham
	Auditor: STOUT STUART MCGOWEN & KING, LLP
	Fiscal Year Ending: 6/30/2025
	Date Modification: Yes
	Audit Report Due Date: 12/31/2025
	Modified due date: 02/28/26
	Fee Modification: Off
	Fee per original contract: 
	Modified fee: 
	Other - Change in Scope: Off
	Other - unit staff: Off
	Other - auditor: Off
	Other - Third party FS: Off
	Other - Unit - bank recs: Yes
	Primary Reason: Issues with unit
	Other - Unit - SLs and GL: Off
	Other - AJEs: Off
	Other - Unit - PBCs: Yes
	Other - Delay in component reports: Off
	Other - SW implementation: Off
	Other - SW - failure: Off
	Other - SW - ransonware/cyberattack: Off
	Other - Disaster: Off
	Other - Other: Off
	Plan to Prevent: The City hired replacement staff but it was after year-end when the staff started. The City has contracted with a third party to help with bank reconciliations and audit information preparation to help prepare this information on a more timely basis.
	Additional information: The City has been without a Finance Officer during the audit period and bank reconciliations were not completed on a timely basis.
	DPCU: 
	DPCU Board Approval Date: 
	DPCU Chairperson: 
	DPCU Date: 
	DPCU Email Address: 
	DPCU Audit Committee Chair: 
	DPCU Audit Committee Date: 
	DPCU Audit Committee Email: 
	DPCU Finance Officer: 
	DPCU Pre-Audit Certificate Date: 
	DPCU Finance Officer Email: 


